

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

All Theses and Dissertations

2013-12-13

# Certain Agave Species Exhibit the Capability to be Moderately Productive Under Conditions of High Salt and Drought Stress

Steven J. Bergsten Brigham Young University - Provo

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Animal Sciences Commons</u>

### BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Bergsten, Steven J., "Certain Agave Species Exhibit the Capability to be Moderately Productive Under Conditions of High Salt and Drought Stress" (2013). *All Theses and Dissertations*. 3818. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/3818

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen\_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Certain Agave Species Exhibit the Capability to be Moderately Productive Under

Conditions of High Salt and Drought Stress

Steven James Bergsten

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

J. Ryan Stewart, Chair Richard E. Terry Samuel B. St. Clair

Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences

Brigham Young University

December 2013

Copyright © 2013 Steven James Bergsten

All Rights Reserved

### ABSTRACT

### Certain Agave Species Exhibit the Capability to be Moderately Productive Under Conditions of High Salt and Drought Stress

### Steven James Bergsten Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences, BYU Master of Science

Water availability and arable lands are increasingly limiting resources in many parts of the U.S., particularly in semi-arid and arid regions. As a means of addressing food and fuel demands associated with burgeoning population growth, highly productive and water-use efficient crops need to be identified. One potential crop, *Agave*, merits consideration and evaluation due to its putative capability to provide sustenance and energy despite growing in water-limited regions and on marginal soils. However, little is known regarding the productivity these succulent plants will have under growing conditions of the Southwest, where high concentrated saline soils are abundant, and water is often limited. The objectives of these studies were to determine the effects of high levels of salinity and different volumetric water content levels (VWC) on plant growth, biomass accumulation, and nutrient uptake.

I used a hydroponic study to compare the effects of four salinity treatments (0.5, 3, 6, and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) on productivity of four Agave species (Agave parryi, Agave utahensis ssp. kaibabensis, Agave utahensis ssp. utahensis, and Agave weberi). In a second study, an automated irrigation system was established to examine four pre-determined VWC threshold set-points and simulated a gradient of well-watered to drought conditions, to evaluate how A. weberi would respond to varying levels of water availability. Salinity concentrations did not significantly affect root and plant dry weight accumulation in A. weberi, but all other agave plants experienced less biomass accumulation under high saline conditions (>6 dS m<sup>-1</sup>). Seedlings of A. utahensis were two times more likely to die in the two highest saline treatments (6 and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) than the two lower treatments (0.5 dS m<sup>-1</sup> and 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup>). Calcium, Mg, S, Mn levels decreased in both A. parryi and A. weberi at higher salinity levels. Agave weberi was able to tolerate salinity, but it also experienced lower biomass production  $\leq 3$  dS m<sup>-1</sup>. In the water-stress study, Agave weberi plants experienced a decrease of 2.11 g as compared to plants in the highest treatment. Plants in the intermediate VWC treatments had similar dry mass values as those in the highest treatment, which suggests that this species could have moderately high yields under limited water conditions, and consequently should be evaluated as a potential bioenergy crop for semi-arid regions, such as the U.S. Southwest.

*Agave* shows considerable potential to be grown in arid and semi-arid regions that are moderately high in salinity and have limited water availability. Indeed, the cultivation of *Agave* as a crop appears to be a viable option for many areas of the Southwest. While some of the Agave species evaluated were quite productive under moderate salt and water stress, it is uncertain if growth will be significantly reduced if under these stress conditions for periods longer than 3 months.

#### Keywords:

*Agave, Agave parryi, Agave utahensis, Agave weberi*, automated irrigation, drought stress, hydroponic, nutrient uptake, salt stress, volumetric water content, water-use efficiency

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Ryan Stewart. He has been very dedicated in helping me understand how to use the scientific method, and has spent countless hours aiding in projects and revising my thesis. I would also like to thank Cali McMurtrey, Yue Shen, and Westen Archibald for helping me take measurements on several of my studies.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
CHAPTER 1	1
ABSTRACT	2
INTRODUCTION	3
MATERIAL AND METHODS	7
Experimental design, plant material and location	7
Mortality count, dry weight and elemental analysis	10
Statistical analysis	11
RESULTS	11
Mortality	11
Shoot, root and total dry weight	12
Nutrient concentrations	13
DISCUSSION	13
CONCLUSION	18
REFERENCES	19
TABLES	25
Table 1. Percent Mortality	25
Table 2. Dry Weights	26

Table 3. Nutrient Concentrations	
CHAPTER 2	
ABSTRACT	31
INTRODUCTION	31
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Experimental design, growing conditions and plant care	35
Irrigation system	
Dry weight, elemental analysis, plant height and chlorophyll count	
Statistical analysis	
RESULTS	
Shoot, root, total dry weight and plant height	
Chlorophyll count	
Nutrient concentration	
DISCUSSION	
CONCLUSION	41
REFERENCES	43
TABLES	49
Table 1. Dry Weights	49
Table 2. Chlorophyll Content	50
Table 3. Nutrient Concentrations	51

### Chapter 1

Evaluation of the Effects of Salinity on Productivity and Nutrient Levels of *Agave* Species Important to Agriculture and Environmental Restoration in the Southwestern U.S.

Steven J. Bergsten, J. Ryan Stewart\*

Plant and Wildlife Sciences Department,

Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah, USA

\*Corresponding author: J. Ryan Stewart, ryan.stewart@byu.edu

Manuscript prepared for submission to the Journal of Arid Environments

#### ABSTRACT

Agave exhibits potential to be used in saline soils as a feedstock source for cattle, bioenergy production, and for reestablishment in burned areas. However, little is known regarding the productivity levels of *Agave* when grown in saline soils in the semi-arid U.S. Southwest. Hydroponic experiments were carried out to evaluate the effects of salinity on biomass accumulation and nutrient uptake of Agave parryi, A. utahensis ssp. kaibabensis, A. *utahensis* ssp. *utahensis*, and *A. weberi*. Salinity treatments  $(0.5, 3, 6, \text{ and } 9 \text{ dS m}^{-1})$  were imposed in each experiment. Both subspecies of A. utahensis were sensitive to salt treatments and experienced high mortality and lower plant dry weight in the higher salinity treatments. Agave parryi was more tolerant and only experienced a decrease in plant dry weight in the 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment. Agave weberi was the most tolerant of the species to high salinity and did not have a significant reduction in growth even in the 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment. Calcium, Mg, S, and Mn levels decreased in both A. parryi and A. weberi at higher salinity levels. Agave parryi also had a decrease of K and P in the higher salt treatments. The decrease in nutrients was not severe enough to cause any nutrient deficiencies across species. Agave plants tolerate salinity at higher levels than previously thought, which suggests that they can grow in more areas of the Southwest than previously expected.

Keywords: Century plant; *Agave parryi*; *Agave utahensis*; *Agave weberi*; hydroponics; salt stress; bioenergy

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In much of the U.S., groundwater levels have been declining dramatically (Konikow, 2013), which could potentially lead to local and regional water shortages, especially in areas that require large water inputs for crop production (Dominguez-Faus et al., 2009). Water shortages in the US southwest are of particular concern, considering many semi-arid areas receive less than 500 mm of rainfall per year (FAO, 1989). Such limitations increase the need for identifying plant species that can be productive despite constraints on water availability. One potential group of plants that could be utilized for agricultural and environmental restoration purposes in the U.S. Southwest is the *Agave* genus. *Agave* constitutes several species that utilize the Crassulacean acid metabolism (CAM) photosynthetic pathway (Nobel, 2010). The CAM pathway enables *Agave* species to utilize low amounts of water relative to plants that photosynthesize through the C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub> pathways. Agaves exchange carbon dioxide at night, resulting in a relatively lower amount of water that transpires out of their leaves and consequently relatively higher values of water-use efficiency (WUE) (Nobel, 1984; Nobel, 1994).

Most agaves lack sufficient cold hardiness to survive winters in the US southwest, but some species appear to be sufficiently cold hardy. *Agave parryi, Agave utahensis*, and *Agave weberi* can tolerate temperatures as low as -19.6, -17.5, and -9.8°C, respectively (Nobel, 1984; Nobel and Smith, 1983; Parida and Das, 2005), suggesting they have potential to be grown in more northern regions at elevation levels as high as 850 m. *Agave parryi* is native to the southwest US, and is found in mountainous areas of central and northern Arizona, southwestern New Mexico, and northern Chihuahua (Minnis and Plog, 1976). *Agave utahensis* populates mountain slopes of southern Utah, southern Nevada, northwestern Arizona, and southeastern

California (Baldwin et al., 2012; Welsh et al., 1993). The native distribution of *A. weberi* ranges from southern Texas to San Luis Potosi and Tamaulipas, Mexico (eMonocot Team, 2013).

Traditionally, agaves were used for food, alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages, syrup, clothing, and cordage (Castetter et al., 1938). Agave roasting pits used by various Native American tribes are scattered throughout the Southwest (Castetter et al., 1938; Greer, 1965). However, A. parryi, A. utahensis, and A. weberi have great potential to be cultivated nowadays for ornamental use (Irish and Irish, 2000), medicine (Cruse, 1973), livestock forage (Fuentes-Rodriguez, 1997), soil erosion control (McDaniel, 1985), desert grassland ecosystem reestablishment (Lindsay et al., 2011), and production of agave nectar (or syrup) (Narváez-Zapata and Sánchez-Teyer, 2010). Indeed, Agave shows promise to be cultivated for syrup production in the Southwest, given that interest has grown in using it as an alternative sweetener (Garcia-Aguirre et al., 2009). Agave parryi and A. utahensis particularly have potential to be used for desert ecosystem reestablishment due to the fact that they are native to the Southwest. In addition, work is ongoing in evaluating the potential of *Agave* as a bioenergy crop (Conlu et al., 2011; Davis et al., 2011; Escamilla-Trevino, 2012; Holtum et al., 2011; Nunez et al., 2011), which is underscored by the high productivity of Agave mapisaga and Agave salmiana. Both were reported by Nobel (1991) to have yielded 38 and 42 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, which exceeds that of other bioenergy feedstock crops, such as corn (15-19 Mg  $ha^{-1}$  yr<sup>-1</sup>) (Dohleman and Long, 2009) and switchgrass (10-12 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) (Heaton et al., 2008). The high biomass and putative cold hardiness of mature Agave weberi plants suggest that this species could be produced as a bioenergy crop (Irish and Irish, 2000).

However, salinity could severely impede cultivation of *A. parryi*, *A. utahensis*, and *A. weberi* in many parts of the Southwest. In the U.S. alone, 8.5 million ha of land are considered

saline or sodic (Massoud, 1976), with 5 million ha located in the western U.S. (Bohn et al., 1985). Excess salinity can decrease water availability to plants because the osmotic pressure of the soil solution increases as the salt concentration increases, resulting in stunted plant growth (Abrol et al., 1988). In addition, high salt concentrations can reduce cell expansion in root tips and young leaves, leading to stomatal closure and reduced water uptake (Munns and Tester, 2008). Excessive salt absorption can cause plants to suffer ionic stress due to ion accumulation in shoots (Munns and Tester, 2008), leading other nutrient ions such as  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $K^+$ , and  $Mg^{2+}$  to become deficient because they have to compete with high NaCl uptake (Khan et al., 1999).

The impact of high salinity on yield of many C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub> crops is already well documented. Corn (*Zea mays*) yield decreased by 23% at an electrical conductivity (EC) level of 3.4 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (Katerji et al., 1996). Likewise, soybean (*Glycine max*) had a 56% decrease in yield at 6.7 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (Katerji et al., 1998). The effects that salinity has on CAM plants have also been evaluated in some species. Cladodes of *Opuntia ficus-indica* decreased 40% in growth at 4.2 dS m<sup>-1</sup> NaCl (Nerd et al., 1991). Pineapple (*Ananas comosus*) can grow in soil with an EC range from 3.0-6.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> before experiencing a significant decline in growth (Ayers and Westcot, 1985). *Aloe vera* started to experience a decrease in leaf number and root dry weight at EC levels higher than 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (Moghbeli et al., 2012).

The tolerance of *Agave* to salinity tends to vary depending on species. Nobel and Berry (1985) found that EC levels above 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> greatly decreased elongation of roots and shoots of *Agave deserti* seedlings. Schuch and Kelly (2008) found that *Agave parryi* shoot and root dry weights decreased significantly at an EC of 5 dS m<sup>-1</sup>. In addition ten-month-old *A. sisalana* plants exposed to 10 dS m<sup>-1</sup> NaCl and 10 dS m<sup>-1</sup> CaCl<sub>2</sub> had a reduction in dry weight of 40%

after 5 months (El-Gamassy et al., 1974). In another study, the dry weight of *A. sisalana* significantly decreased in EC levels of 6.25 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, and decreased by 46% in EC levels of 25 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (El-Bagoury et al., 1993). However, in contrast to these findings, Miyamoto (2008) found that salinity did not have any significant impacts on *Agave americana* growth at levels up to 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup>. Variation in the degree of salinity tolerance obviously exists in the genus.

If salinity severely impacts growth of most *Agave* species, cultivating or reestablishing these species for commercial or environmental purposes may not be feasible in the Southwest. This may particularly be the case in degraded, marginal lands where salinity exceeds normal thresholds. However, the tolerance of *Agave* to salinity appears to vary depending on species, suggesting that some species may be more tolerant to salinity than generally assumed.

In order to gain a better understanding of how agaves respond to high salinity, more species need to be evaluated, particularly those of agricultural and environmental interest. The main objective of this study was to determine the impact treatments ranging from low to high salinity have on the productivity of *A.weberi*, *A. parryi*, and two subspecies of *A. utahensis*, *A. utahensis* ssp. *kaibabensis* and *A. utahensis* ssp. *utahensis*. Another objective of the study was to determine the impacts that salinity have on nutrient uptake of essential plant elements, considering that is another variable that can be used to measure productivity. We hypothesized that 1) *A. weberi*, which is a closely related species of *A. americana*, a plant that has been found to tolerate salinity levels as high as 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (Miyamoto, 2008), will also be tolerant to salinity and withstand levels as high as 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> without experiencing a significant decrease in growth. 2) *A. parryi* will have a significant reduction in growth after 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> based on findings found by Schuch and Kelly (2008), which suggest *A. parryi* is not very tolerant to salinity. 3) The two subspecies of *A. utahensis*, will also be sensitive to salinity past levels of 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> due to the fact

that they primarily grow on hillsides where salinity is often low (Hara, 1992) and thus have not had to evolve to tolerate high saline concentrations. 4) As salinity levels increase past 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, nutrient uptake in *A. parryi* and *A. weberi* will decrease, but not to deficient levels.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### Experimental design, plant material and location

Four separate hydroponic experiments were established in order to analyze the following Agave taxa: A. parryi, A. utahensis ssp. kaibabensis, A. utahensis ssp. utahensis, and A. weberi. The two subspecies of A. utahensis were evaluated in this study to gain a more comprehensive understanding of how the species responds overall to salinity. Agave parryi and A. weberi plants used in the study were 6-month-old clones propagated through tissue culture (Rancho Tissue Technologies, Rancho Santa Fe, CA). Agave utahensis ssp. kaibabensis and A. utahensis ssp. utahensis plants were grown from seed obtained from Phoenix Desert Nurseries (Phoenix, AZ). The study was conducted under greenhouse conditions at Brigham Young University in Provo, UT. The first two experiments, which included A. utahensis ssp. kaibabensis and A. weberi began on 15 Nov 2012 and concluded after 75 days. The third and fourth experiments, which included A. parryi and A. utahensis ssp. utahensis began on 20 Feb 2013 and ended after 60 days. Each experiment was arranged in a completely randomized block design, with a container containing four plants of the same species serving as the experimental unit. Four salinity treatments (0.5, 3, 6, and 9 dS  $m^{-1}$ ) were established, with each treatment being replicated 4 times, resulting in a total of 16 containers used in the design. Buckets were randomly placed in four rows approximately 30 cm apart on a greenhouse bench. Plants were grown under supplemental light conditions (12 h daily) with an average temperature of  $25 \pm 5^{\circ}$ C during the

light period and an average temperature of  $15\pm 2^{\circ}$ C during the dark period. Relative humidity averaged 47% during the study.

Agave parryi. Sixty-four plants were thoroughly washed to remove soil particles from roots. Plants were transferred to 16 polyethylene containers (depth = 24.1 cm; width = 23.5 cm, volume = 7.6 L) covered in aluminum foil, containing 7.5 L dilute, modified Steinberg nutrient solution (Nichols et al., 2012; Steinberg, 1953) and placed randomly on a greenhouse bench. The modified Steinberg (1953) solution contained 1337  $\mu$ M calcium nitrate [Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>\*4H<sub>2</sub>O], 287  $\mu$ M magnesium nitrate [Mg(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>\*6H<sub>2</sub>O, 246  $\mu$ M ammonium nitrate [NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>], 130  $\mu$ M potassium phosphate [K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>], 40 µM ammonium sulfate [(NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>], 4.5 µM manganese chloride [MnCl<sub>2</sub>\*4H<sub>2</sub>O], 12 µM boric acid [H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>], 1.2 µM zinc sulfate [ZnSO<sub>4</sub>\*7H<sub>2</sub>O], 0.3 µM copper sulfate [CuSO<sub>4</sub>\*5H<sub>2</sub>O], 0.2 µM sodium molybdate [Na<sub>2</sub>MoO<sub>4</sub>\*2H<sub>2</sub>O], 128 µM potassium nitrate [KNO<sub>3</sub>], 131 µM potassium chloride [KCL], 132 µM potassium sulfate [K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>], 185 µM magnesium sulfate [MgSO<sub>4</sub>\*7H<sub>2</sub>O], 46 µM N-(2-Hydroxyethyl)ethylenediamine-N,N',N'triacetic acid trisodium salt [HEDTA], and 94  $\mu$ M iron chloride [FeCl<sub>3</sub>\*6H<sub>2</sub>O]. Each plant was inserted into neoprene net cup lids and placed inside 5.1-cm foam-net pots (Atlantis Hydroponics, College Park, GA). Each foam-net pot was placed inside an opaque plastic lid situated on top of each container. Air stones were placed at the base of each container to aerate the roots and solution. Plants were grown in the pre-treatment solution for 14 days prior to transfer into treatments.

The initial nutrient concentrations used during the treatment period were the same as the pre-treatment, except NaCl concentration was adjusted to reach the desired electrical conductivity (EC) level for each treatment. Electrical conductivity was measured using a HM Digital COM-100 EC meter (Atlantis Hydroponics, College Park, GA). Salinity was supplied at

four levels (0.6, 3, 6, and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup>) of NaCl in nutrient solutions buffered at a pH of 6. Solution pH was initially adjusted and then maintained daily with sodium hydroxide (NaOH) and hydrochloric acid (HCl). Two weeks after the treatment started, the modified Steinberg (1953) solution was slightly increased to 1671 µM calcium nitrate [Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>\*4H<sub>2</sub>O], 359 µM magnesium nitrate [Mg(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>\*6H<sub>2</sub>O, 308 µM ammonium nitrate [NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>], 147 µM potassium phosphate [K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>], 45 µM ammonium sulfate [(NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>], 5 µM manganese chloride [MnCl<sub>2</sub>\*4H<sub>2</sub>O], 14 µM boric acid [H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>], 1.3 µM zinc sulfate [ZnSO<sub>4</sub>\*7H<sub>2</sub>O], 0.3 µM copper sulfate [CuSO<sub>4</sub>\*5H<sub>2</sub>O], 0.2 µM sodium molybdate [Na<sub>2</sub>MoO<sub>4</sub>\*2H<sub>2</sub>O], 192 µM potassium nitrate [KNO<sub>3</sub>], 197 µM potassium chloride [KCL], 199 µM potassium sulfate [K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>], 248 µM magnesium sulfate [MgSO<sub>4</sub>\*7H<sub>2</sub>O], 59 µM HEDTA, and 141 µM iron chloride [FeCl<sub>3</sub>\*6H<sub>2</sub>O]. Nutrient solutions in each container were replenished every 2 weeks. When replenishing the solutions, the whole container was replaced with a new solution in deionized water to ensure that salinity level would remain relatively constant over the course of the experiments. While harvesting, shoots and roots were separated for further analysis.

Agave utahensis *ssp.* kaibabensis. Seeds were germinated by placing them on cheesecloth placed on 4-mm stainless steel screens in 9.5-cm deep rectangular plastic trays. The screens were immersed with 2 L of diluted modified Steinberg solution. The germination solution contained 977  $\mu$ M calcium nitrate [Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>\*4H<sub>2</sub>O], 210  $\mu$ M magnesium nitrate [Mg(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>\*6H<sub>2</sub>O, 180  $\mu$ M ammonium nitrate [NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>], 113  $\mu$ M potassium phosphate [K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>], 35  $\mu$ M ammonium sulfate [(NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>], 1.8  $\mu$ M manganese chloride [MnCl<sub>2</sub>\*4H<sub>2</sub>O], 5  $\mu$ M boric acid [H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>], 0.5  $\mu$ M zinc sulfate [ZnSO<sub>4</sub>\*7H<sub>2</sub>O], 0.1  $\mu$ M copper sulfate [CuSO<sub>4</sub>\*5H<sub>2</sub>O], 0.08  $\mu$ M sodium molybdate [Na<sub>2</sub>MoO<sub>4</sub>\*2H<sub>2</sub>O], 112  $\mu$ M potassium nitrate [KNO<sub>3</sub>], 115  $\mu$ M potassium chloride [KCL], 117  $\mu$ M potassium sulfate [K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>], 145  $\mu$ M magnesium sulfate [MgSO<sub>4</sub>\*7H<sub>2</sub>O], and 11

 $\mu$ M iron-ethylenediamine-N,N'-bis (2-hydroxyphenylacetic acid (Fe-EDDHA). Germination and subsequent elongation of seedlings were carried out over a 21-day period at ~25°C. The pre-treatment procedure applied to *A. parryi* was also used for *A. utahensis* ssp. *kaibabensis*, except, during the treatment period, nutrient solutions were replenished every 4 weeks instead of every 2 weeks.

Agave utahensis *ssp.* utahensis. Seedlings of *A. utahensis* ssp. *utahensis* were propagated similarly to those of *A. utahensis* ssp. *kaibabensis*. They were also pre-treated and treated with the same modified Steinberg solutions as the *A. parryi* plants, except that 128 seedlings comparable in size were transferred to opaque plastic lids placed on top of containers (8 plants per container). After a 14-day pre-treatment period, 64 seedlings uniform in size were then selected out of the 128 seedlings and transferred to new containers (4 plants per container) with opaque plastic lids. The treatment protocol for *A. parryi* was used for *A. utahensis* ssp. *utahensis* except seedlings were initially replenished every 2 weeks for the first 30 days. They were then replenished every 4 weeks due to slow nutrient uptake. Seedlings were harvested after 60 days in treatment.

Agave weberi. Plants of *A. weberi* were pre-treated and treated with the same modified Steinberg solution as the *A. parryi* plants. However, during the treatment period, nutrient solutions were replenished 4 weeks after treatment started. Following the initial replenishment, nutrients were replenished every 2-weeks.

### Mortality count, dry weight and elemental analysis

At the end of each experiment, a mortality count was taken to determine the percent mortality of plants in each treatment. Shoots and roots of plants in all experiments were surface washed and then oven dried at 65°C for a minimum of 72 hours to a uniform dryness and then

weighed. Shoots of *A. parryi* and *A. weberi* were subsequently ground using a mortar and pestle for elemental analysis. Shoots of *A. utahensis* ssp. *kaibabensis* and *A. utahensis* ssp. *utahensis* were not ground because there was not enough dry material to use for elemental analysis. In order to measure the concentrations of Ca, Mg, K, P, S, Zn, Cu, and Na in the shoots, ground samples were digested in nitric-perchloric acid and analyzed by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectroscopy (IRIS Intrepid II XSP, Thermo Electron Corporation, Franklin, MD). Total N was analyzed using a nitrogen analyzer (LECO CHN628 series, LECO Corporation, St. Joseph, MI).

### Statistical analysis

The average dry shoot, dry root, and nutrient concentrations were calculated from the four plants in each bucket. Statistical analyses were performed using Statistical Analysis System (SAS, version 9.3, SAS Institute, Cary, NC). A check for normality for each analysis was accomplished with quantile-quantile plots for residuals, and by running the Shapiro-Wilk, Cramer-von Mises, and Anderson-Darling tests. Data for shoot dry weight, root dry weight, total dry weight, and nutrient uptake were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) with mean separation using the Tukey-Kramer test at the 0.05 level of significance ( $P \le 0.05$ ).

### RESULTS

### Mortality

Mortality of seedlings of *A. utahensis* ssp. *kaibabensis* in the 6 and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> salt treatments were more than double of those in the control and 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> salt treatments (Table 1). As EC levels increased, there was a proportional increase in mortality of *A. utahensis* ssp. *utahensis* seedlings. Mortality in the 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment was approximately 25, 50, and 75% higher than in the 6, 3, and 0.6 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments. All *A. parryi* and *A. weberi* plants survived, regardless of treatment.

### Shoot, root, and total dry weight

Shoot, root, and total dry weights of *A. parryi* were only significantly different between plants in the control and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments. Plants in the control treatment had the highest dry weight values (Table 2).

Seedlings of *A. utahensis* ssp. *kaibabensis* in the 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup> and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments had 1.5 to 2 times less shoot dry weight than those in the control treatment (Table 2). Significant treatment differences in root dry weight were only manifested in the 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> salinity treatment. Roots in this treatment had nearly 2.5 times less dry weight than of those in the control treatment (Table 2). Total dry weight of plants in the control treatment was significantly higher than those in the 6 and 9 dS mdS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments. Also, total dry weight of plants in the 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment was significantly higher than of those in the 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup>.

*Agave utahensis* ssp. *utahensis* seedlings in the control treatment had more than two times as much shoot dry weight than those in the 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment (Table 2). Shoot dry weight of control seedlings also were 1.8 times greater than seedlings in the 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment (Table 2). Seedlings in the control treatment had 2.6 and 4.5 times more root dry weight, respectively, than seedlings in the 6 and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments (Table 2). Treatment differences in total dry weight followed that of shoot and root dry weights where dry weights decreased as salinity levels increased.

There were no significant differences in shoot, root, or total dry weights of *A. weberi* among the four treatments (Table 2). However, similar to *Agave parryi* plants, the shoot dry weight and total dry weight tended to decrease as salt concentration increased.

### Nutrient concentrations

The only significant difference in C concentrations of *A. parryi* was between the 3 and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment with more being in the 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment. Nitrogen concentrations were only significantly different between the 3 and 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments, with more N in the 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment. There were no significant differences between the control, 6, and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments. Dried shoot samples showed significant differences in Ca, K, Mg, Mn, Na, P and S (Table 3). Calcium, K, Mg, Mn, and S concentrations all decreased significantly with an increase in salt treatment. Each of these elements had significant decreases in the 6 and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments relative to the control. Phosphorus concentration was significantly lower in the 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment metative to the 3 and 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments. There was also no significant difference in P concentration between the control and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments (Table 3).

There were no significant differences between any of the treatments for *A. weberi* in terms of C concentration. Nitrogen concentration in plants in the control treatment was significantly lower than of those in the other treatments (Table 3). There were no significant differences in K, P, Zn and Fe among plants in the four treatments. However, Ca, Mg, S and Mn all significantly decreased in concentration as salinity increased, particularly in the 6 and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments. Copper concentrations were significantly lower in plants in the control and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments compared to the 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment. Sodium concentration significantly increased as salinity treatment increased (Table 3).

#### DISCUSSION

Growth of both subspecies of *A. utahensis* was severely reduced at high salt concentrations. The poor response of these plants to salinity may have been due to their exposure

to high levels of salt stress as seedlings. Their ability to adapt to salt stress was low compared to the more established and putatively stress-tolerant *A. parryi* and *A. weberi* plants. Nobel et al. (1985) reported that 12-day old seedlings of *A. deserti* also performed poorly in high salinity, with a 50% decrease in root growth occurring at 5.6 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, and a similar decrease in shoot growth occurring at 9.3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (Nobel and Berry, 1985).

To date, research has not been carried out determining how mature plants of *A. utahensis* ssp. *kaibabensis* and *A. utahensis* ssp. *utahensis* respond to high salinity. However, using soilbased data collected by Nobel and Berry (1985), Hara (1992) estimated that EC values of fieldgrown *A. utahensis* range between 2.5-3.2 dS m<sup>-1</sup>. This suggests that the natural habitat of *A. utahensis* is generally not very saline, which possibly explains why the species is fairly intolerant of high salt concentrations. Another reason that *A. utahensis* ssp. *kaibabensis* and *A. utahensis* ssp. *utahensis* seedlings performed poorly may have been due to their inability to osmotically adjust to high salt levels. Mature *Agave* plants typically tolerate high salt concentrations through osmotic adjustment, where moisture content decreases and Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> ions increase in the shoots (Schuch and Kelly, 2008). *Agave* plants will also exude salt from their leaves to try and adjust to salt stress. However, since the plants of both taxa in our study were only seedlings, their capacity to store salt was possibly limited. Although not directly measured, such adjustment mechanisms may have been at play with the more mature and larger *A. parryi* and *A. weberi* plants.

Data from the study suggests that *A. parryi* performs well in EC levels up to 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, which correlates with another study that analyzed the salinity tolerance of 1-year-old *A. parryi* plants grown under greenhouse conditions (Miyamoto, 2008). Miyamoto (2008) found that plant growth was not restricted within the range of 6-8 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, but was severely reduced at 9.4 dS m<sup>-1</sup>.

Contrary to our findings, Schuch and Kelly (2008) found in an outdoor study that shoot and root dry weights of potted *A. parryi* plants decreased by 33% when irrigated with water with an EC of 5 dS m<sup>-1</sup> relative to those exposed to 0.6 dS m<sup>-1</sup>. This suggests that even within species, some conspecific *Agave* plants may be more tolerant to salinity than others.

Out of the four species evaluated, *A. weberi* was the most tolerant to high salinity levels, with no significant difference in growth among treatments. Other species of agaves have also performed well in high salinity. Miyamoto (2008) found that *Agave americana* plants were considerably tolerant of high salt levels, and did not have any significant decreases in growth when irrigated with 9.4 dS m<sup>-1</sup> water. In addition, soil samples taken from the root zones of field-grown *A. americana* had EC levels ranging between 7.0-8.0 dS m<sup>-1</sup> (Hara, 1992; Nobel and Berry, 1985). Interestingly, the EC levels of soils underneath *Agave salmiana, Agave lechuguilla*, and *Agave foucroydes* were in the range of 13-16 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, 17-20 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, and 44-47 dS m<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, which indicates that some *Agave* species are amazingly tolerant to high levels of salinity.

To our knowledge, studies evaluating optimal nutrient concentrations of *A. parryi* and *A. weberi* have not been carried out. Moreover, identifying nutrient deficiencies in *Agave* species can be difficult because visual symptoms are not always obvious (Ruiz-Luna et al., 2011). Indeed, nutritional deficiencies may not be manifest for up to 12 months. As a result, it was difficult to visually determine if plants in our study were suffering from nutrient deficiencies. However, by taking into consideration reported nutrient concentrations of ecologically similar *Agave* species (*A. americana, A. deserti, A. fourcroydes, A. lechuguilla, A. salmiana, and A. utahensis*) (Nobel and Berry, 1985), estimates can be made of nutrient threshold levels of both *A. parryi* and *A. weberi*. For *A. parryi* and *A. weberi*, N uptake significantly differed between

treatments, but did not appear to be associated with salinity level. *Agave weberi* had significantly less N in the control group than the 6 and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments, while *A. parryi* had significantly less N in the 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment than the 6 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment. The decrease in N in the lower treatments is inconsistent with that found in other studies, where N tended to decrease with an increase in salinity (Al-Rawahy et al., 1992; Feigin et al., 1991; Pessarakli, 1991). However, salinity level does not necessarily affect overall N uptake (Maksimovic and Ilin, 2012). Saltstressed plants may continue to accumulate N, even if there is a reduction in yield or dry matter.

The decrease in N, however, did not appear to impair plant growth and productivity in the lower treatments, with both species having more dry weight in the control and 3 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments than the 6 and 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatments. Compared to the average N content of six *Agave* species (1.19%) evaluated by Nobel and Berry (1985), the lowest N levels in *A. parryi* (1.97%) and *A. weberi* (3.28%) in our study were relatively high. This suggests that the plants in these treatments were likely not impaired by N deficiency. The fact that N uptake does not decrease with an increase in salinity is noteworthy because N can be the most limiting element for *Agave* growth (Nobel and Berry, 1985), as it is primarily responsible for the growth of leaves, crowns, and roots (Lock, 1969).

In terms of the other essential nutrients that significantly decreased, Ca may have been the only element that became deficient at high NaCl concentrations. Calcium levels in the 9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> treatment of *A. parryi* (1.35%) and *A. weberi* (1.44%) were noticeably lower than of other *Agave* species where the average concentration was 4.16% (Nobel and Berry, 1985). Even in the control treatments, the Ca levels were still fairly low for *A. parryi* (2.75%) and *A. weberi* (2.87%) as compared to that reported by Nobel and Berry (1985). However, Lock (1962) reported that mature leaves of field-grown *A. sisalana* in Tanzania, had similar levels of Ca

(1.4%), indicating that not all *Agave* need high Ca concentrations in their leaves to be productive. Furthermore, seedlings of *A. deserti* did not significantly vary in growth with Ca levels ranging from 0.0008 to 0.02% (Nobel and Berry, 1985). *Agave* plants have been found to grow in soil Ca levels ranging from 0.015% to 0.01% (Nobel and Berry, 1985).

Although decreases of K and P were statistically significant in *A. parryi*, their low concentrations (1.97% K, 0.40% P) were still above the average values found by Nobel and Berry (1985). Furthermore, the lowest S concentrations in *A. parryi* (0.19%) and *A. weberi* (0.25%) were still above that found in well-watered and fertilized *Agave angustifolia* (Ruiz-Luna et al., 2011). Despite the significant decrease in Mg and Mn in both *A. parryi* and *A. weberi*, the lowest Mg levels in *A. parryi* (0.52%) and *A. weberi* (0.55%) were relatively similar to the average of the six *Agave* species mentioned above (0.55%) (Nobel and Berry, 1985). Also, Mn levels in the highest NaCl treatments of *A. parryi* (65 ppm) and *A. weberi* (39 ppm) were considerably larger compared to the average (18 ppm) of the six species evaluated by Nobel and Berry (1985). Studies on micronutrient deficiency symptoms in *A. sisalana* showed that deficiencies occurred below about 10 ppm Mn, 2 ppm Cu, and 5 ppm Zn (Lock, 1962; Pinkerton, 1971). The plants in our study thus appeared to not be experiencing micronutrient deficiencies. Despite a decrease in nutrient uptake at higher salt concentrations, actual physiological impairment to the plants appeared to be minimal.

The relations between salinity and mineral nutrition are extremely complex (Grattan and Grieve, 1999), and predicting the specific nutrients that would be deficient are difficult. Based on studies of other plants, it is common to have a decrease in most essential elements with an increase in salinity (Parida and Das, 2005), but whether they lead to decreases in plant growth and productivity depends upon the nutrient in question, salinity level and composition of salts,

plant species, and environmental factors (Grattan and Grieve, 1999). *Agave parryi* and *A. weberi* responded comparatively well to high concentrations of salinity, but in order to identify specific nutrient deficiency threshold levels for each species, long-term experiments need to be carried out evaluating each essential nutrient separately.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the results of our study, it appears that several *Agave* species show variation in response to high levels of salinity. However, age and stage of development may play a factor in the degree of tolerance expressed. *Agave utahensis* seedlings were very sensitive to high levels of salinity, with growth and survival greatly decreasing in higher salinity treatments. As such, the potential for *A. utahensis* to be established in burned areas high in salinity does not seem promising. However, it is important to note that mature plants of *A. utahensis* have not been evaluated in saline environments, and may be more tolerant to salt stress than seedlings. In contrast, *A. parryi* and *A. weberi* plants were relatively tolerant to high levels of salinity. Consequently, *Agave parryi* and *A. weberi* have great potential to be utilized in saline environments of the Southwest for restoration efforts in burned areas, as well as for commercial uses, such as for syrup production and bioenergy.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are thankful to three undergraduate students, Cali McMurtrey, Yue Shen, and Westen Archibald, for helping us carry out this experiment.

#### REFERENCES

Abrol, I., Yadav, J.S.P., Massoud, F., 1988. Salt-affected soils and their management. FAO.

- Al-Rawahy, S.A., Stroehlein, J.L., Pessarakli, M., 1992. Dry-matter yield and nitrogen-15, Na<sup>+</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, and K<sup>+</sup> content of tomatoes under sodium-chloride stress. Journal of Plant Nutrition 15, 341-358.
- Ayers, R.S., Westcot, D.W., 1985. Water quality for agriculture. FAO Rome.
- Baldwin, B.G., Goldman, D.H., Keil, D.J., Patterson, R., Rosatti, T.J., Wilken, D.H., 2012. The Jepson manual: vascular plants of California. University of California Press, Berkeley, Calif.

Bohn, H.L., McNeal, B.L., O'Connor, G.A., 1985. Soil chemistry. Wiley, New York.

- Brooks, M.L., D'Antonio, C.M., Richardson, D.M., Grace, J.B., Keeley, J.E., DiTomaso, J.M.,Hobbs, R.J., Pellant, M., Pyke, D., 2004. Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes.Bioscience 54, 677-688.
- Brooks, M.L., Esque, T.C., 1999. Alien grasses in the Mojave and Sonoran deserts, Proceedings of the California Exotic Pest Council Symposium, pp. 39-44.
- Busch, D.E., Smith, S.D., 1993. Effects of fire on water and salinity relations of riparian woody taxa. Oecologia 94, 186-194.
- Castetter, E.F., Bell, W.H., Grove, A.R., 1938. The early utilization and the distribution of agave in the American southwest. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque, N.M.
- Conlu, R., Ha, D., Shen, J., 2011. Exploring the potential of *Agave* as a biofuel crop on arid land. University of Nevada, Las Vegas.
- Cruse, R.R., 1973. Desert plant chemurgy: a current review. Economic Botany 27, 210-230.
- Davis, S.C., Dohleman, F.G., Long, S.P., 2011. The global potential for *Agave* as a biofuel feedstock. GCB Bioenergy 3, 68-78.

- Dohleman, F.G., Long, S.P., 2009. More productive than maize in the Midwest: How does *Miscanthus* do it? Plant Physiol. 150, 2104-2115.
- Dominguez-Faus, R., Powers, S.E., Burken, J.G., Alvarez, P.J., 2009. The water footprint of biofuels: A drink or drive issue? Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 3005-3010.
- El-Bagoury, O., El-Agroudy, M., Shenouda, M., 1993. Effect of salinity levels on growth of six plant species. Egyptian Journal of Agronomy 18, 129-143.
- El-Gamassy, A., El-Rahman, A.A., Hassib, M., Mandour, M., 1974. Vegetative patterns and water economy of *Agave sisalana* in saline soils. Zeitschrift fuer Acker-und Pflanzenbau 139, 165-171.
- Escamilla-Trevino, L.L., 2012. Potential of plants from the genus *Agave* as bioenergy crops. BioEnergy Res. 5, 1-9.
- FAO, 1989. Arid zone forestry: A guide for field technicians, Rome.
- Feigin, A., Pressman, E., Imas, P., Miltau, O., 1991. Combined effects of KNO<sub>3</sub> and salinity on yield and chemical composition of lettuce and Chinese cabbage. Irrig. Sci. 12, 223-230.
- Fuentes-Rodriguez, J., 1997. A comparison of the nutritional value of Opuntia and Agave plants for ruminants. Journal of the Professional Association for Cactus Development 2, 20-22.
- Garcia-Aguirre, M., Saenz-Alvaro, V.A., Rodriguez-Soto, M.A., Vicente-Magueyal, F.J.,
  Botello-Alvarez, E., Jimenez-Islas, H., Cardenas-Manriquez, M., Rico-Martinez, R.,
  Navarrete-Bolanos, J.L., 2009. Strategy for biotechnological process design applied to the
  enzymatic hydrolysis of *Agave* fructo-oligosaccharides to obtain fructose-rich syrups. J.
  Agric. Food Chem. 57, 10205-10210.
- Good-Avila, S.V., Souza, V., Gaut, B.S., Eguiarte, L.E., 2006. Timing and rate of speciation in *Agave* (Agavaceae). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103, 9124-9129.

Grattan, S.R., Grieve, C.M., 1999. Salinity mineral nutrient relations in horticultural crops. Scientia Horticulturae 78, 127-157.

Greer, J.W., 1965. A typology of midden circles and mescal pits. Southwestern Lore 31, 41-55.

- Hara, Y., 1992. Physical and chemical soil properties affecting the growth habits of *Agave* species. University of Arizona, Tucson.
- Heaton, E.A., Dohleman, F.G., Long, S.P., 2008. Meeting US biofuel goals with less land: the potential of *Miscanthus*. Global Change Biology 14, 2000-2014.
- Holtum, J.A.M., Chambers, D., Morgan, T., Tan, D.K.Y., 2011. *Agave* as a biofuel feedstock in Australia. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 3, 58-67.
- Humphrey, R.R., 1974. Fire in the deserts and desert grassland of North America, in: Kozlowski, T.T., Ahlgren, C.E. (Eds.), Fire and ecosystems. Academic Press, New York, pp. 365-400.
- Irish, M., Irish, G., 2000. Agaves, yuccas, and related plants : a gardener's guide. Timber Press, Portland, Or.
- Katerji, N., van Hoorn, J.W., Hamdy, A., Mastrorilli, M., Karam, F., 1998. Salinity and drought, a comparison of their effects on the relationship between yield and evapotranspiration. Agric. Water Manage. 36, 45-54.
- Katerji, N., vanHoorn, J.W., Hamdy, A., Karam, F., Mastrorilli, M., 1996. Effect of salinity on water stress, growth, and yield of maize and sunflower. Agric. Water Manage. 30, 237-249.
- Khan, M.A., Ungar, I.A., Showalter, A.M., 1999. Effects of salinity on growth, ion content, and osmotic relations in *Halopyrum mucronatum* (L.) Stapf. Journal of Plant Nutrition 22, 191-204.
- Konikow, L.F., 2013. Groundwater depletion in the United States (1900–2008), U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2013–5079.

- Lindsay, D.L., Bailey, P., Lance, R.F., Clifford, M.J., Delph, R., Cobb, N.S., 2011. Effects of a nonnative, invasive lovegrass on *Agave palmeri* distribution, abundance, and insect pollinator communities. Biodivers. Conserv. 20, 3251-3266.
- Lock, G.W., 1962. Sisal: twenty-five years' sisal research. Longmans, London.
- Lock, G.W., 1969. Sisal; thirty year's sisal research in Tanzania. Longmans, London.
- Mack, R.N., 1986. Alien plant invasion into the Intermountain West: a case history, in: Mooney, H.A., Drake, J.A. (Eds.), Ecology of biological invasions of North America and Hawaii.Springer-Verlag, New York, pp. 191-213.
- Maksimovic, I., Ilin, Ž., 2012. Effects of salinity on vegetable growth and nutrients uptake, in: Lee, T.S. (Ed.), Irrigation systems and practices in challenging environments. InTech, Rijeka, Croatia, pp. 169-187.
- Massoud, F., 1976. Basic principles for prognosis and monitoring of salinity and sodicity, Proceedings of the International Salinity Conference, Texas Tech University, Lubbock, Texas, August 16-20, pp. 432-454.
- McDaniel, R.G., 1985. Field evaluations of Agave in Arizona. Desert Plants 7, 57-60, 101.
- Minnis, P.E., Plog, S.E., 1976. A study of the site specific distribution of *Agave parryi* in east central Arizona. The Kiva 41, 299-308.
- Miyamoto, S., 2008. Salt tolerance of landscape plants common to the Southwest. Texas Water Resources Institute, El Paso.
- Moghbeli, E., Fathollahi, S., Salari, H., Ahmadi, G., Saliqehdar, F., Safari, A., Grouh, M.S.H.,
  2012. Effects of salinity stress on growth and yield of *Aloe vera* L. Journal of Medicinal
  Plants Research 6, 3272-3277.

- Munns, R., Tester, M., 2008. Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59, 651-681.
- Narváez-Zapata, J., Sánchez-Teyer, L., 2010. Agaves as a raw material: recent technologies and applications. Recent Patents on Biotechnology 3, 185-191.
- Nerd, A., Karadi, A., Mizrahi, Y., 1991. Salt tolerance of prickly pear cactus (*Opuntia ficus-indica*). Plant Soil 137, 201-207.
- Nichols, B.A., Hopkins, B.G., Jolley, V.D., Webb, B.L., Greenwood, B.G., Buck, J.R., 2012.Phosphorus and zinc interactions and their relationships with other nutrients in maize grown in chelator-buffered nutrient solution. Journal of Plant Nutrition 35, 123-141.
- Nobel, P.S., 1984. PAR and temperature influences on CO<sub>2</sub> uptake by desert CAM plants. Advances in Photosynthesis Research IV 3, 193-200.
- Nobel, P.S., 1991. Achievable productivities of certain CAM plants: basis for high values compared with C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub> plants. New Phytologist 119, 183-205.
- Nobel, P.S., 1994. Remarkable agaves and cacti. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Nobel, P.S., 2010. Desert wisdom/agaves and cacti: CO2, water, climate change. iUniverse, New York.
- Nobel, P.S., Berry, W.L., 1985. Element responses of agaves. Am. J. Bot. 72, 686-694.
- Nobel, P.S., Smith, S.D., 1983. High and low-temperature tolerances and their relationships to distribution of agaves. Plant Cell Environ. 6, 711-719.
- Nunez, H.M., Rodriguez, L.F., Khanna, M., 2011. *Agave* for tequila and biofuels: an economic assessment and potential opportunities. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 3, 43-57.
- Parida, A.K., Das, A.B., 2005. Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 60, 324-349.

- Pessarakli, M., 1991. Dry-matter yield, N-15 absorption, and water-uptake by green bean under sodium-chloride stress. Crop Sci. 31, 1633-1640.
- Pinkerton, A., 1971. Some micronutrient deficiencies in sisal (*Agave sisalana*). Exp. Agric. 7, 113-122.
- Ruiz-Luna, J., Velasco-Velasco, V., Maldonado-Peralta, R., Enríquez-del Valle, J., Campos-Ángeles, G., Rodríguez-Ortiz, G., Preciado-Rangel, P., 2011. Expression of nutrient deficiencies of nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, sulfur and iron in *Agave angustifolia* Haw, II International Symposium on Soilless Culture and Hydroponics, pp. 339-345.
- Schuch, U.K., Kelly, J.J., 2008. Salinity tolerance of cacti and succulents. College of Agriculture and Life Sciences, University of Arizona Tucson.
- Steinberg, R.A., 1953. Symptoms of molybdenum deficiency in tobacco. Plant Physiol. 28, 319-322.
- Welsh, S.L., Atwood, N.D., Goodrich, S., Higgins, L.C., 1993. A Utah flora. Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah.
- Whisenant, S.G., 1990. Changing fire frequencies on Idaho's Snake River Plains: ecological and management implications. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report INT-276, pp. 4-10.
- Wright, R.T., Boorse, D., 2010. Environmental science: toward a sustainable future. Pearson Education, Upper Saddle River, NJ.

### TABLES

### Table 1. Percent Mortality

Percent mortality of *Agave utahensis* ssp. *kaibabensis* and *Agave utahensis* ssp. *utahensis* exposed to four levels of salinity. Percent mortality was calculated by averaging the number of mortalities in each hydroponic container, and then averaging those averages across each treatment.

19
19
19
44
44
0
27
50
75

### Table 2. Dry Weights

Four separate experiments evaluating the effects 0.6-9 dS m<sup>-1</sup> salinity levels have on shoot, root and total dry weight of four *Agave* species. *Agave parryi* and *Agave utahensis* were in treatment for 60 days, while *Agave weberi* and *Agave utahensis kaibabensis* were in treatment for 75 days.

Agave parryi	Shoot d	lry weig	ght (g)	Root di	y weig	ht (g)	Total d	ry wei	ght (g)
0.6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	1.63	$\mathbf{A}^{\mathbf{Z}}$	±0.085	0.541	А	±0.035	2.17	А	±0.039
3.0 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	1.47	AB	±0.085	0.509	AB	±0.035	1.97	AB	±0.039
6.0 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	1.30	AB	±0.085	0.486	AB	±0.035	1.79	AB	±0.039
9.0 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	1.16	В	±0.085	0.402	В	±0.035	1.57	В	±0.039
Agave utahensis ssp.									
0.6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	0.0387	А	±0.003	0.0071	А	±0.001	0.0459	А	±0.004
3 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	0.0328	AB	±0.003	0.0057	AB	±0.001	0.0386	AB	±0.004
6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	0.0201	В	±0.003	0.0045	AB	±0.001	0.0246	BC	±0.004
9 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	0.0170	В	±0.003	0.0029	В	±0.001	0.0199	С	±0.004
Agave utahensis ssp. utahensis									
0.6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	0.0235	А	±0.002	0.0063	А	±0.001	0.0298	А	±0.003
3 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	0.0179	AB	±0.002	0.0046	AB	±0.001	0.0225	AB	±0.003
6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	0.0131	В	±0.002	0.0024	В	±0.001	0.0155	В	±0.003
9 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	0.0113	В	±0.002	0.0014	В	±0.001	0.0128	В	±0.003

Agave weberi

0.6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	2.93	А	±0.137	0.787	А	±0.211	3.71	А	±0.257
3 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	2.93	А	±0.137	0.921	А	±0.211	3.85	А	±0.257
6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	2.77	А	±0.137	0.902	А	±0.211	3.67	А	±0.257
9 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	2.44	А	±0.137	0.743	А	±0.211	3.55	А	±0.257

<sup>Z</sup> Different letters indicate means that are significantly different from each other (Tukey test,  $P \le 0.05$ , ANOVA)

### Table 3. Nutrient Concentrations

Nutrient Unit	C %	N %	K %	P %	Ca %	Mg %	S %
Agave parryi							
0.6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	42.4 AB <sup>Z</sup> ±	e0.26 2.09 AB	±0.04 2.11 A	±0.02 0.41 AB	±0.003 2.75 A ±0	0.05 0.70 A ±0.01	0.24 A ±0.005
3 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	43.1 A ±0	0.26 1.97 B	±0.04 2.07 AB	±0.02 0.42 A	±0.003 2.22 B ±0	0.05 0.63 B ±0.01	0.22 AB ±0.005
6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	42.2 AB ±0	0.26 2.15 A	±0.04 2.01 BC	±0.02 0.42 A	±0.003 1.71 C ±0	0.05 0.55 C ±0.01	0.21 BC ±0.005
9 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	41.4 B ±0	0.26 1.99 AB	±0.04 1.97 C	±0.02 0.40 B	±0.003 1.44 D ±0	0.05 0.52 C ±0.01	0.19 C ±0.005
Agave weberi							
0.6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	44.5 A ±0	0.17 3.28 B	±0.21 2.08 A	±0.02 0.44 A	±0.02 2.87 A ±0	0.11 0.83 A ±0.03	0.35 AB ±0.01
3 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	43.9 A ±0	0.17 4.10 AB	±0.21 2.11 A	±0.02 0.52 A	±0.02 2.76 A ±0	0.11 0.78 A ±0.03	0.38 A ±0.01
6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	43.8 A ±0	0.17 4.21 A	±0.21 2.06 A	±0.02 0.47 A	±0.02 1.81 B ±0	0.11 0.61 B ±0.03	0.31 BC ±0.01
9 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	43.8 A ±0	0.17 4.11 A	±0.21 2.04 A	±0.02 0.45 A	±0.02 1.35 B ±0	0.11 0.55 B ±0.03	0.25 C ±0.01

Nutrient concentrations of two separate experiments evaluating the effects of salinity on nutrient uptake of Agave weberi and Agave parryi.

Nutrient Unit	Mn ppr	ı n		Cu ppr	n		Zn pp	m		Fe pp	m		Na ppm		
Agave parryi															
0.6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	109	А	±3.7	4.1	А	±0.24	18	А	±0.52	80	А	±16.8	1326	D	±505.6
3 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	101	А	±3.7	3.7	А	±0.24	16	В	±0.52	75	А	±16.8	8952	С	±505.6
6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	79	В	±3.7	4.0	А	±0.24	16	В	±0.52	80	А	±16.8	18001	В	±505.6
9 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	65	В	±3.7	3.8	А	±0.24	15	В	±0.52	81	А	±16.8	23373	А	±505.6
Agave weberi															
0.6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	85	А	±4.7	3.3	В	±0.24	29	А	±16.3	76	А	±3.7	1086	D	±483.9
3 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	89	А	±4.7	4.8	А	±0.24	30	А	±16.3	81	А	±3.7	9917	С	±483.9
6 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	54	В	±4.7	3.8	AB	±0.24	27	А	±16.3	78	А	±3.7	19710	В	±483.9
9 dS m <sup>-1</sup>	39	В	±4.7	3.6	В	±0.24	27	А	±16.3	80	А	±3.7	22910	А	±483.9

<sup>*Z*</sup> Different letters indicate means that are significantly different from each other (Tukey test,  $P \le 0.05$ , ANOVA)

### Chapter 2

Measurement of the Influence of Low Water Availability on the Productivity of a Potential

Bioenergy Crop, Agave weberi, Using a Novel Automated Irrigation System

Steven J. Bergsten, J. Ryan Stewart\*

Plant and Wildlife Sciences Department,

Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah, USA

\*Corresponding author: J. Ryan Stewart, ryan.stewart@byu.edu

Manuscript prepared for submission to Global Change Biology Bioenergy

#### ABSTRACT

In recent years, research has focused on determining the potential of *Agave* to be utilized for bioenergy production due to its ability to grow in arid and marginal lands. However, little is known regarding its productivity under limited water conditions. Most *Agave* species can tolerate low soil-moisture levels, but it is unclear at what point productivity will be significantly constrained. Using an automated irrigation system under greenhouse conditions, we evaluated the effects of low to high volumetric water content (VWC) levels on biomass accumulation and nutrient uptake of a putative bioenergy crop, *Agave weberi*. Plants were exposed to four constant VWC levels (0.05, 0.12, 0.19, and 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>). Shoot dry weight of plants in the 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatment was significantly higher than those in the 0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatment, but not than those in the intermediate treatments. Both chlorophyll concentration and nutrient uptake decreased as VWC level decreased. Although plants were fairly productive under moderately dry soil conditions, it would be expected that over time, plants receiving high levels of irrigation would have greater growth than plants in dry soil moisture levels given that *Agave* will switch from CAM to C<sub>3</sub> photosynthesis under conditions of high water availability.

Keywords: Agave, century plant, automated irrigation, drought stress, nutrient uptake, Agave weberi

### **INTRODUCTION**

Ethanol from corn (*Zea mays*) currently dominates the renewable fuels market in the U.S. (Coyle, 2007), but attempting to grow more corn to satisfy energy needs could be difficult because cultivation of this crop requires large amounts of water and synthetic fertilizer for optimal growth (Dominguez-Faus *et al.*, 2009). Producing such crops will increasingly strain

already limited water sources, particularly in semi-arid and arid parts of the world (White & Nackoney, 2003). Indeed, water availability continues to decline in many parts of the U.S. As a case in point, consumption of groundwater averaged 9.2 km<sup>3</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in the U.S. between the years 1900-2008, but more than 25 km<sup>3</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> were depleted between the years 2000-2008 (Konikow, 2013). Sparse rainfall also limits potential productivity (FAO, 1989). Most conventional food or energy crops simply cannot be grown sustainably in these regions. Highly productive energy crops requiring limited water need to be identified.

Agave, which is a genus of succulent plants native to arid and semi-arid parts of Central and North America, shows promise as a stress-tolerant, bioenergy crop for semi-arid and arid regions, such as the southwestern U.S. Agave is comprised exclusively of species that utilize the Crassulacean acid metabolism (CAM) photosynthetic pathway (Matiz et al., 2013, Nobel, 2009). This pathway enables *Agave* species to have high water-use efficiency (WUE) because they open their stomates at night resulting in less water being transpired relative to other plants that use the C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub> photosynthetic pathways (Davis *et al.*, 2011). Comparatively, the WUE of C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>, and CAM plants average 3-12, 6-24, and 32-98 g CO<sub>2</sub> L<sup>-1</sup> H2O, respectively (Nobel, 2009). Clearly, CAM plants assimilate CO<sub>2</sub> at a much lower transpirational cost, which indicates that agaves could be grown as energy crops in arid and semi-arid regions of the U.S., an area encompassing over 10 million km<sup>2</sup> (Huntsinger & Starrs, 2006). According to some estimates (Nobel *et al.*, 1992, Nunez et al., 2011, Somerville et al., 2010), using agaves for bioenergy production could result in higher yields than other energy crops, such as corn (15-19 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (Dohleman & Long, 2009), miscanthus (29-38 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), and switchgrass (10-12 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (Heaton *et al.*, 2008). Moderate levels of management and resource inputs led to yields of 38 and 42 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for

*Agave mapisaga* and *Agave salmiana*, respectively (Nobel *et al.*, 1992). Indeed, considerable potential exists for *Agave* to help satisfy growing energy needs in drier regions of the U.S.

Most *Agave* species, however, lack sufficient cold hardiness to survive winters in the dry, high elevation regions, such as the U.S. Southwest. However, *Agave weberi*, a highly productive species whose native distribution extends from southern Texas to San Luis Potosi and Tamaulipas, Mexico (eMonocot Team, 2013, Irish & Irish, 2000), withstands temperatures down to -10°C (Nobel & Smith, 1983). Consequently, the species could likely be grown much farther north and at higher elevations outside of its current cultivated range in Mexico. Agave *weberi* is widely cultivated in Mexico for production of alcoholic beverages, such as mescal, due to its high starch and sugar content (Gentry, 1982). It is also cultivated for fiber production (Nobel, 1994), and is often used as living fences around houses (Gentry, 1982). No information appears to be available, though, regarding A. weberi productivity potential. However, a closely related species, A. sisalana, was reported to have a biomass productivity of 5 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in Tanzania while growing in less-than-optimal growing conditions (Lock, 1962). We assume that with modest increases in irrigation and fertilizer input, the yield of A. weberi would likely exceed this threshold. However, further examination of the productivity of A. weberi, particularly with varying levels of water availability, is warranted in order to accurately assess its true agronomic potential.

Limited water availability, however, could impede *Agave* productivity in the U.S. Southwest, considering that most of the region receives no more than 500 mm of annual rainfall (FAO, 1989). On average, precipitation across the native range of *A. weberi* ranges between 100-1000 mm (Instituto de Geografía, 1990). Hara (1992) reported that *A. americana* grown in soil with a volumetric water content (VWC) level of 5.7% had reduced growth compared to

conspecific plants grown in soils with VWC levels of 14.6%. However, some *Agave* species perform comparatively greater than others in terms of growth under similar watering profiles. *Agave salmiana* yielded 10 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> under 320 mm of annual rainfall (Nobel & Meyer, 1985) compared to *A. lechuguilla*, which produced only 4 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> when subjected to 427 mm of rainfall (Nobel & Quero, 1986). Wide inter- and intraspecific variation in growth in response to varying water availability indicates that some *Agave* species may be highly productive despite constraints on soil moisture.

A reduction in water availability may also impede productivity by reducing nutrient uptake. Generally, most plants under drought stress experience a decrease in nutrient uptake due to decreased transpiration rates and active transport of nutrients (Alam, 1994; Viets, 1972). These decreases can even be severe enough to cause nutrient deficiencies (Beringer & Trolldenier, 1978; Hu & Schmidhalter, 2005; Turner, 1985). Drougt stress can also cause a reduction in chlorophyll content, which often impedes productivity of various plants (Alberte et al., 1977; Ohashi et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2002). To our knowledge, the effects of drought stress on nutrient uptake and chlorophyll content have not been evaluated in *Agave*. However, both variables could be important in identifying the productivity of *Agave* under different water levels.

The main objective of this study was to determine the productivity threshold of *A. weberi* across a range of VWC levels. We conducted an exploratory experiment in a greenhouse setting to evaluate the impacts of varying VWC levels on *A. weberi* productivity. Previous studies evaluating the effects of water stress have been difficult due to the challenges in imposing biologically relevant results (Kim *et al.*, 2012, Nemali & van Iersel, 2006). Common methods for imposing drought stress include withholding irrigation until wilting occurs (Harb *et al.*, 2010,

Kawaguchi *et al.*, 2004) or by subjecting plants to osmoticum (Kreps *et al.*, 2002) or other means of desiccation (Seki *et al.*, 2002). In container-based systems, withholding water hastens the development of drought stress faster than under natural conditions, making it difficult to infer results to the field (Nemali & van Iersel, 2006). Moreover, recent research indicates that molecular-level responses to drought are highly dependent of the method of drought-stress imposition (Bray, 2004). Also, precise control of water availability under controlled conditions allows for a more integrated understanding of water stress impacts given the constancy of the method and minimization of variability (Granier *et al.*, 2006, Harb *et al.*, 2010).

As a means of deriving relevant measures of *A. weberi* response to water stress, we developed an automated irrigation system based on the design of Nemali and van Iersel (2006), which was used to maintain constant VWC levels in each container. Optimal precipitation and soil moisture values for high productivity of *A. weberi* are not documented, but based on physiological responses of other *Agave* species to water stress (Hara, 1992, Nobel & Meyer, 1985, Nobel & Quero, 1986), we hypothesized that *A. weberi* exposed to fairly dry soil-moisture levels (0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) would have equivalent growth levels when grown under moist soil conditions (0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>). We also hypothesized that nutrient uptake and chlorophyll content in *A. weberi* would decrease in dry soil moisture levels (0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>), but not enough to cause any significant decrease in plant growth.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### Experimental design, growing conditions, and plant care

This study was conducted under greenhouse conditions at Brigham Young University, Provo, UT, USA. The experiment began on 29 Jan 2013, and concluded after 80 days. The

experiment was arranged as a randomized complete block design, with individual potted *A*. *weberi* plants serving as the experimental units. Plants were 6-month-old clones propagated through tissue culture (Rancho Tissue Technologies, Rancho Santa Fe, CA). Four irrigation treatments representing different VWC levels (0.05, 0.12, 0.19, and 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) were established, with each treatment replicated 8 times (N = 32). Each container (replicate) was filled with a 4:1:1 mix of sand, calcined clay, and pea-sized gravel. Potted plants were randomly placed in 8 rows approximately 30 cm apart on a greenhouse bench. Plants were grown under supplemental light conditions (12 h daily) with an average temperature of  $25 \pm 5^{\circ}$ C during the light period and an average temperature of  $15 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C during the dark period. Relative humidity during the study period averaged 47%. Each pot was fertilized with 500 mL of a 20-20-20 NPK fertilizer before the experiment began.

#### Irrigation system

An automated irrigation system, which was based on that developed by Nemali and van Iersel (2006), was set up to regulate the amount of water applied to each *A. weberi* plant. The VWC levels were determined by creating a calibrated soil-moisture curve specific to the soil medium mentioned above. The moisture curve was determined by regressing raw sensor output (mV) against gravimetric measurements in dry-to-completely saturated medium. These data were fed into a program in a CR1000 datalogger (Campbell Scientific, Logan, UT) to maintain relatively consistent soil-moisture content values in each pot. Moisture sensors (10HS ECH<sub>2</sub>O, Decagon Devices, Pullman, WA), which were attached to the logger through a multiplexer (AM16/32, Campbell Scientific), measured water content in each container. Drip emitters, connected to solenoid valves (Rainbird DV/DVF series, Rain Bird Corporation, Tucson, AZ), would turn on or off through relay devices (SDM-CD16AC, Campbell Scientific) when soil

volumetric water content values were below or above pre-determined threshold (treatment) levels.

### Dry weight, elemental analysis, plant height, and chlorophyll count

At the end of the experiment, shoots and roots of plants were oven dried at 65°C for a minimum of 72 hours to uniform dryness and then weighed. Shoots were also ground using a mortar and pestle for elemental analysis. Concentrations of Ca, Mg, K, P, S, Zn, Cu, and Na in shoots were determined by digesting ground samples in nitric-perchloric acid and analyzed by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectroscopy (IRIS Intrepid II XSP, Thermo Electron Corporation, Franklin, MD). Total N was analyzed at the end of the experiment using an N analyzer (LECO CHN628 series, LECO Corporation, St. Joseph, MI).

At the end of the experiment, the height of each plant was taken by measuring the length from the base of the plant to the top of the agave rosette. Chlorophyll concentration was measured before harvesting of plants using a hand held CCM-200 Plus meter (Apogee Instruments, Inc., Logan, UT) in the three most recently unfolded leaves of each plant. Three measurements were taken on each leaf, and were subsequently averaged.

### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Analysis System (SAS version 9.3, SAS Institute, Cary, NC). All end-of-harvest measurements (i.e., shoot dry mass, root dry mass, chlorophyll count, and nutrient concentrations) were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) with mean separation using the Tukey-Kramer test at the  $P \le 0.05$  level of significance. A check for normality for each analysis was accomplished with quantile-quantile plots for residuals, and by running the Shapiro-Wilk, Cramer-von Mises, and Anderson-Darling

tests. A log transformation was done on nutrient concentrations of Fe, Na, and Zn in order to achieve normality.

#### RESULTS

### Shoot, root, total dry weight, and plant height

Shoot, total dry weight, and plant height of plants were lower in the 0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatment compared to those in the 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatment. However, no statistical differences were found between plants in the other treatments or relative to the 0.05 and 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatments (Table 1). There were also no differences in root dry weight among treatments (Table 1).

### Chlorophyll count

There were no significant differences in chlorophyll count between plants in the different irrigation treatments in the two most recently unfolded leaves of each plant (leaf 1 and leaf 2) (Table 2). However, in leaf 3, which was the oldest of leaves sampled, chlorophyll count was significantly lower in plants in the 0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> water treatment in comparison to those in the 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatment. Chlorophyll counts of plants in the 0.19 and 0.12 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatments were not significantly different from the 0.05 or 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatments.

### Nutrient concentration

While not different than those in the 0.19 and 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatments, plants in the 0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatment had significantly less percent N than those in the 0.12 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatment. Carbon, Mg, S, Mn, Cu, Zn, Fe, and Na concentrations were not significantly different in plants in any of the treatments. Potassium was significantly lower in plants in the 0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> water treatment relative to the 0.26 and 0.12 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatments. Phosphorus was significantly lower in plants in the 0.12 and 0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatments than of those in the 0.26 and 0.19 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatments. Calcium was significantly lower in plants in the 0.05 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatment compared to those in the 0.26 and 0.19 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatments. Calcium in plants in the 0.12 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> was significantly lower than of those in the 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatment (Table 3).

#### DISCUSSION

Studies evaluating drought stress on other potential bioenergy crops such as corn (Efeoglu *et al.*, 2009), miscanthus (Clifton-Brown *et al.*, 2002), and switchgrass (Stroup *et al.*, 2003), had to achieve drought stress by manually irrigating and taking soil moisture measurements regularly. Such approaches can be labor intensive and complicate efforts to replicate natural drought conditions for extended periods of time due to the variability of VWC levels in heterogeneous media. The automated irrigation system designed in this study proved to be effective in evaluating the impacts of pre-determined, specific VWC levels on *A. weberi* growth, given that moisture levels remained relatively constant throughout the duration of the study ( $\pm$ 2%). The ease by which otherwise highly productive, ostensibly water-stress-tolerant *Agave* germplasm can be quickly screened through this system shows considerable promise (Bauweraerts *et al.*, 2013, Jones, 2007, Kim *et al.*, 2012, Nemali & van Iersel, 2008). Such a system should be considered for future experiments evaluating the effects of water stress on plant growth.

Interestingly, the productivity of *A. weberi* was not significantly reduced by moderately low VWC levels. Only plants at very low VWC levels had significantly less growth, indicating that *A. weberi* can exhibit moderate amounts of growth despite growing in VWC levels as low as 12%. These results go against that found in other studies where a decrease in water availability typically leads to statistically significant declines in growth (Clifton-Brown & Lewandowski,

2000, Earl & Davis, 2003, Nobel *et al.*, 1989). *Opuntia amclea* and *O. ficus-indica* have been reported to have notably high productivity (46 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), but only when irrigated and fertilized daily (Nobel *et al.*, 1992). Accordingly, the ability of *A. weberi* plants in lower VWC treatments to have statistically similar growth as plants in the highest treatment underscores the need for further evaluating this potential energy crop for dryland regions.

Although growth was similar between all treatments with the exception of the lowest, it is likely that over time plants receiving high amounts of water would experience an increase in growth due to a switch in the photosynthetic pathway. The basis for our assumption lies in the fact that agaves are opportunistic plants, which will start to open their stomates earlier in the day and will even switch from CAM to C<sub>3</sub> photosynthesis when water is abundant (Lüttge, 2010, Matiz *et al.*, 2013, Nobel & Hartsock, 1979). After ten weeks of daily watering, mature plants of *A. deserti* switched from CAM photosynthesis to C<sub>3</sub> photosynthesis, where it predominantly had daytime CO<sub>2</sub> uptake. *Agave weberi* plants grown in a hydroponic system experienced similar results, where stomatal opening started to occur during the day, particularly in the afternoon, after 8 weeks of growing under well-watered conditions (Stewart and Bergsten, unpublished data).

While some *Agave* species such as *A. mapisaga* and *A. salmiana* have been recorded to have extremely high productivity, it was probably due to the fact that these plants were irrigated near field capacity, which facilitated high stomatal conductance during the day resulting in an increase in carbon uptake (Lüttge, 2010, Matiz *et al.*, 2013). Indeed, without additional resource inputs, yields of these species were reported to reach only 25 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Nobel, 1991). Clearly, water can be a limiting factor in *Agave* growth.

Other variables besides shoot dry weight also indicated that plants in lower water treatments were not as productive. Chlorophyll count data showed that there was a decrease in chlorophyll in the oldest leaves as VWC treatment decreased. Furthermore, the relatively lower concentrations of N, K, P, and Ca in the 0.05 and 0.12 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> treatments indicated that nutrient uptake may have been inhibited due to limited water availability. This is likely due to a decrease in transpiration rates and impaired active transport and membrane permeability, which reduces nutrient uptake by the roots and nutrient transport from the roots to the shoots (Alam, 1994, Viets, 1972).

### CONCLUSION

The potential for *A. weberi* to be cultivated in the U.S. Southwest or other semi-arid regions for bioenergy production may be limited. Most of this region receives low amounts of precipitation (FAO, 1989), and many groundwater reserves are already being overpumped (Postel *et al.*, 1996), reducing the potential of using water resources in this area for *Agave* cultivation. Sustaining *Agave* crop yields comparable to corn or miscanthus grown in high-rainfall regions will likely only be manageable through large irrigation inputs, and might not be economically or environmentally feasible in the U.S. Southwest. However, the natural variation and plasticity found within the *Agave* genus (Nobel, 1994) suggests that moderately high-yielding accessions could be identified that tolerate low soil-moisture conditions inherent to semi-arid regions. Less-than-ideal yields may be obtained, but if supplemented with other alternative sources of energy, such as wind and solar energy, it could become a reliable energy crop for semi-arid regions. Determining the viability of *Agave* as an energy crop should continue to be pursued. Undoubtedly, long-term experiments evaluating the responses of *A. weberi* and other *Agave* species to drought and other environmental stresses are certainly warranted.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are thankful to three undergraduate students, Cali McMurtrey, Yue Shen, and Westen Archibald, for helping us carry out this experiment.

#### REFERENCES

- Alam SM (1994) Nutrient uptake by plants under stress conditions. In: *Handbook of plant and crop stress*. (ed Pessarakli M) pp Page. New York, Marcel Dekker.
- Alberte R, Thornber J, Fiscus E (1977) Water stress effects on the content and organization of chlorophyll in mesophyll and bundle sheath chloroplasts of maize. Plant Physiology, 59, 351-353.
- Bauweraerts I, Wertin TM, Ameye M, Mcguire MA, Teskey RO, Steppe K (2013) The effect of heat waves, elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and low soil water availability on northern red oak (*Quercus rubra* L.) seedlings. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 517-528.
- Beringer, H, Trolldenier, G (1978) Influence of K nutrition on the response to enviornmental stress, in: Potassium Research-Review and Trends. Proceedings of the 11<sup>th</sup> Congress of the International Potash Institute. Internat. Potash Inst., Bern, 189-222
- Bray EA (2004) Genes commonly regulated by water-deficit stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Journal of Experimental Botany, **55**, 2331-2341.
- Clifton-Brown JC, I. L, Bangerth F, Jones MB (2002) Comparative responses to water stress in stay-green, rapid- and slow senescing genotypes of the biomass crop, *Miscanthus*. *New Phytologist*, **154**, 335-345.
- Clifton-Brown JC, Lewandowski I (2000) Water use efficiency and biomass partitioning of three different *Miscanthus* genotypes with limited and unlimited water supply. *Annals of Botany*, **86**, 191-200.
- Coyle W (2007) The future of biofuels. In: *Amber Waves*. pp 24-29, Washington, D.C., Economic Research Service.

- Davis SC, Dohleman FG, Long SP (2011) The global potential for *Agave* as a biofuel feedstock. *GCB Bioenergy*, **3**, 68-78.
- Dohleman FG, Long SP (2009) More productive than maize in the Midwest: How does *Miscanthus* do it? *Plant Physiology*, **150**, 2104-2115.
- Dominguez-Faus R, Powers SE, Burken JG, Alvarez PJ (2009) The water footprint of biofuels: A drink or drive issue? *Environmental Science & Technology*, **43**, 3005-3010.
- Earl HJ, Davis RF (2003) Effect of drought stress on leaf and whole canopy radiation use efficiency and yield of maize. *Agronomy Journal*, **95**, 688-696.
- Efeoglu B, Ekmekci Y, Cicek N (2009) Physiological responses of three maize cultivars to drought stress and recovery. *South African Journal of Botany*, **75**, 443-443.
- eMonocot Team (2013) *Agave weberi* J.F.Cels ex J.Poiss. Available at: http://zoobclark05.zoo.ox.ac.uk/taxon/urn:kew.org:wcs:taxon:294351 (accessed 25 July 2013).

Fao (1989) Arid zone forestry: A guide for field technicians, Rome.

- Gentry HS (1982) Agaves of continental North America, Tucson, The University of Arizona Press.
- Granier C, Aguirrezabal L, Chenu K *et al.* (2006) PHENOPSIS, an automated platform for reproducible phenotyping of plant responses to soil water deficit in *Arabidopsis thaliana* permitted the identification of an accession with low sensitivity to soil water deficit. *New Phytologist*, **169**, 623-635.
- Hara Y (1992) Physical and chemical soil properties affecting the growth habits of *Agave* species.

- Harb A, Krishnan A, Ambavaram MM, Pereira A (2010) Molecular and physiological analysis of drought stress in *Arabidopsis* reveals early responses leading to acclimation in plant growth. *Plant Physiology*, **154**, 1254-1271.
- Heaton EA, Dohleman FG, Long SP (2008) Meeting US biofuel goals with less land: the potential of *Miscanthus*. *Global Change Biology*, **14**, 2000-2014.
- Hu Y, Schmidhalter U (2005) Drought and salinity: a comparison of their effects on mineral nutrition of plants. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 4, 541-549.
- Huntsinger L, Starrs PF (2006) Grazing in arid North America: A biogeographical approach. *Sécheresse*, **17**, 219-233.
- Instituto de Geografía (1990) *Atlas Nacional de Mexico*, Mexico City, Universidad Nacional Autonoma de Mexico.
- Irish M, Irish G (2000) *Agaves, yuccas, and related plants : a gardener's guide,* Portland, Or., Timber Press.
- Jones HG (2007) Monitoring plant and soil water status: established and novel methods revisited and their relevance to studies of drought tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **58**, 119-130.
- Kawaguchi R, Girke T, Bray EA, Bailey-Serres J (2004) Differential mRNA translation contributes to gene regulation under non-stress and dehydration stress conditions in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *The Plant Journal*, **38**, 823-839.
- Kim J, Malladi A, Van Iersel MW (2012) Physiological and molecular responses to drought in *Petunia*: the importance of stress severity. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **63**, 6335-6345.

Konikow LF (2013) Groundwater depletion in the United States (1900–2008). In: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2013–5079. Available at: http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2013/5079/ (accessed 27 July 2013).

- Kreps JA, Wu Y, Chang H-S, Zhu T, Wang X, Harper JF (2002) Transcriptome changes for *Arabidopsis* in response to salt, osmotic, and cold stress. *Plant Physiology*, **130**, 2129-2141.
- Lock GW (1962) Sisal: twenty-five years' sisal research, London, Longmans.
- Lüttge U (2010) Ability of crassulacean acid metabolism plants to overcome interacting stresses in tropical environments. *AoB Plants*, **2010**, plq005.
- Matiz A, Mioto PT, Mayorga AY, Freschi L, Mercier H (2013) CAM photosynthesis in bromeliads and agaves: what can we learn from these plants? In: *Photosynthesis*. (ed Dubinsky Z) pp 91-134. Rijeka, Croatia, InTech.
- Nemali KS, Van Iersel MW (2006) An automated system for controlling drought stress and irrigation in potted plants. *Scientia Horticulturae*, **110**, 292-297.
- Nemali KS, Van Iersel MW (2008) Physiological responses to different substrate water contents: Screening for high water-use efficiency in bedding plants. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, **133**, 333-340.
- Nobel PS (1991) Achievable productivities of certain CAM plants: basis for high values compared with C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub> plants. *New Phytologist*, **119**, 183-205.

Nobel PS (1994) Remarkable agaves and cacti, New York, Oxford University Press.

Nobel PS (2009) *Desert wisdom/agaves and cacti: CO<sub>2</sub>, water, climate change,* New York, iUniverse.

- Nobel PS, Garcia-Moya E, Quero E (1992) High annual productivity of certain agaves and cacti under cultivation. *Plant, Cell & Environment,* **15**, 329-335.
- Nobel PS, Hartsock TL (1979) Environmental influences on open stomates of a Crassulacean acid metabolism plant, *Agave deserti*. *Plant Physiology*, **63**, 63-66.
- Nobel PS, Meyer SE (1985) Field productivity of a CAM plant, *Agave salmiana*, estimated using daily acidity changes under various environmental conditions. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 65, 397-404.
- Nobel PS, Quero E (1986) Environmental productivity indices for a Chihuahuan desert CAM plant, *Agave lechuguilla*. *Ecology*, **67**, 1-11.
- Nobel PS, Quero E, Linares H (1989) Root versus shoot biomass: responses to water, nitrogen, and phosphorus applications for *Agave lechuguilla*. *Botanical Gazette*, **150**, 411-416.
- Nobel PS, Smith SD (1983) High and low-temperature tolerances and their relationships to distribution of agaves. *Plant, Cell & Environment,* **6**, 711-719.
- Nunez HM, Rodriguez LF, Khanna M (2011) *Agave* for tequila and biofuels: an economic assessment and potential opportunities. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy*, **3**, 43-57.
- Ohashi Y, Nakayama N, Saneoka H et al. (2006) Effects of drought stress on photosynthetic gas exchange, chlorophyll fluorescence and stem diameter of soybean plants. *Biologia Plantarum*, 50, 138-141.
- Postel SL, Daily GC, Ehrlich PR (1996) Human appropriation of renewable fresh water. *Science*, **271**, 785-788.
- Seki M, Narusaka M, Ishida J *et al.* (2002) Monitoring the expression profiles of 7000
   *Arabidopsis* genes under drought, cold and high-salinity stresses using a full-length
   cDNA microarray. *The Plant Journal*, **31**, 279-292.

- Somerville C, Youngs H, Taylor C, Davis SC, Long SP (2010) Feedstocks for lignocellulosic biofuels. *Science*, **329**, 790-792.
- Stroup J, Sanderson M, Muir J, Mcfarland M, Reed R (2003) Comparison of growth and performance in upland and lowland switchgrass types to water and nitrogen stress. *Bioresource Technology*, **86**, 65-72.
- Turner L (1985) Changes in the phosphorus content of Capsicum annuum leaves during waterstress. J. Plant Physiol. 121, 429-439.
- Viets F (1972) Water deficits and nutrient availability. *Water deficits and plant growth*, **3**, 217-239.
- White RP, Nackoney J (2003) Drylands, people, and ecosystem goods and services: A webbased geospatial analysis. Washington, D.C., World Resources Institute. Available at: http://pdf.wri.org/drylands.pdf (accessed 27 July 2013).
- Zhang Y, Mao X, Sun H et al. (2002) Effects of drought stress on chlorophyll fluorescence of winter wheat. *Chinese journal of Eco-Agriculture*, 10, 13-15.

### TABLES

### Table 1. Dry Weights

Treatment	eatment Shoot dry weight		Root	Root dry weight			Total dry weight				Plant height				
$(m^3 m^{-3})$	(g)		(g)			(g)			(cm)						
0.26	6.32 A	±0.42	4.10	Α	±0.42	10.2	А	±0.71	10.1	А	±0.38				
0.19	4.85 A	B ±0.42	3.47	A	±0.42	8.07	AB	±0.71	8.9	AB	±0.38				
0.12	5.23 A	B ±0.42	3.69	A	±0.42	8.93	AB	±0.71	9.31	AB	±0.38				
0.05	4.21 E	3 ±0.42	3.16	А	±0.42	7.37	в	±0.71	8.5	В	±0.38				

The effect of varying volumetric water content levels on growth variables of Agave weberi over an 80-day period.

<sup>Z</sup>Different letters indicate means that are significantly different from each other (Tukey test,  $P \le 0.05$ , ANOVA).

### Table 2. Chlorophyll Content

Average chlorophyll content levels of the three most recently unfolded leaves of each *Agave weberi* plant separated by treatment. Leaf 1 was the youngest leaf.

Treatment (m <sup>3</sup> m <sup>-3</sup> )	Leaf 1	Leaf 2	Leaf 3
0.26	88 A ±4.2	104 A ±5.1	112 A ±6.1
0.19	91 A ±4.2	95 A ±5.1	96 AB ±6.1
0.12	95 A ±4.2	111 A ±5.1	98 AB ±6.1
0.05	90 A ±4.2	103 A ±5.1	87 B ±6.1

<sup>Z</sup>Different letters indicate means that are significantly different from each other (Tukey test,  $P \le 0.05$ ,

ANOVA).

## Table 3. Nutrient Concentrations

Treatment	С			Ν			K			Р			Ca			Mg			S		
$(m^3 m^{-3})$	%			%			%			%			%			%			%		
0.26	43.5	Α	±0.2	0.43	AB	±0.04	1.94	А	±0.02	0.20	А	±0.01	2.37	А	±0.08	0.79	А	±0.02	0.10	А	±0.01
0.19	43.8	А	±0.2	0.38	AB	±0.04	1.93	AB	±0.02	0.18	A	±0.01	2.19	AB	±0.08	0.79	A	±0.02	0.10	А	±0.01
0.12	43.6	А	±0.2	0.47	А	±0.04	1.95	А	±0.02	0.15	В	±0.01	2.03	BC	±0.08	0.76	А	±0.02	0.10	А	±0.01
0.05	44.1	А	±0.2	0.33	В	±0.04	1.88	В	±0.02	0.13	В	±0.01	1.84	С	±0.08	0.72	А	±0.02	0.10	А	±0.01

Nutrient concentrations of Agave weberi in each volumetric water content treatment.

Treatment	Mn	Cu	Zn	Fe	Na
$(m^3 m^{-3})$	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm
0.26	595.6 A ±42.9	1.94 A ±0.17	5.83 A ±0.86	51.8 A ±8.8	475.6 A ±42.5
0.19	590.8 A ±42.9	1.73 A ±0.17	5.20 A ±0.86	37.4 A ±8.8	474.9 A ±42.5
0.12	639.1 A ±42.9	2.06 A ±0.17	6.36 A ±0.86	37.2 A ±8.8	535.6 A ±42.5
0.05	541.1 A ±42.9	1.96 A ±0.17	5.36 A ±0.86	54.9 A ±8.8	580.4 A ±42.5

<sup>Z</sup>Different letters indicate means that are significantly different from each other (Tukey test,  $P \le 0.05$ , ANOVA)